No. 44744-4-II

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

VS.

Geoffrey Lawson,

Appellant.

Kitsap County Superior Court Cause No. 12-1-00713-4
The Honorable Judge Steven Dixon

Appellant's Opening Brief

Jodi R. Backlund Manek R. Mistry Skylar T. Brett Attorneys for Appellant

BACKLUND & MISTRY

P.O. Box 6490 Olympia, WA 98507 (360) 339-4870 backlundmistry@gmail.com

ISSUES AND ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. Mr. Lawson's convictions violated his Fifth, Sixth, and Fourteenth Amendment right to notice of the charges against him.
- 2. Mr. Lawson's convictions violated his state constitutional right to notice of the charges against him, under Wash. Const. art. I, §§ 3 and 22.
- 3. The Information was factually deficient because it failed to allege specific facts describing the conduct the state planned to prove at trial.
- 4. The trial court erred by denying Mr. Lawson's motion for a bill of particulars.
 - **ISSUE 1:** An accused person is constitutionally entitled to notice that is both legally and factually adequate. The Information in this case failed to outline specific facts describing the conduct the state planned to prove at trial, and the court denied Mr. Lawson's motion for a bill of particulars. Was Mr. Lawson deprived of his constitutional right to adequate notice of the charge under the Fifth, Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments and Wash. Const. art. I, §§ 3 and 22?
 - **ISSUE 2:** An accused person has the right to demand the nature and cause of the accusation against him. Here, Mr. Lawson moved for a bill of particulars, asking that the vague charging document be made more definite and certain. Did the trial court infringe Mr. Lawson's right to demand the nature and cause of the accusation by refusing to grant his motion for a bill of particulars?
- 5. Mr. Lawson's voyeurism conviction in count four violated his Fourteenth Amendment right to due process.
- 6. Mr. Lawson's voyeurism conviction was based on insufficient evidence.
- 7. The prosecution failed to prove that Mr. Lawson viewed another person while she was in a place where she had a reasonable expectation of privacy.

- 8. The prosecution failed to prove that Mr. Lawson viewed the intimate areas of another person.
- 9. The trial court erred by adopting Conclusion of Law No. 6. CP 462.
 - **ISSUE 3:** A conviction for voyeurism requires proof that the accused person viewed another person while she was in a place where she had a reasonable expectation of privacy, or that he viewed the intimate areas of another person under circumstances where she had a reasonable expectation of privacy. Here, the prosecution presented evidence that Mr. Lawson viewed a woman while she was in the sink area of a women's public restroom. Does Mr. Lawson's voyeurism conviction in count four violate his Fourteenth Amendment right to due process because the evidence is insufficient to prove voyeurism beyond a reasonable doubt?
- 10. Mr. Lawson's burglary convictions violated his Fourteenth Amendment right to due process.
- 11. Mr. Lawson's burglary convictions were based on insufficient evidence.
- 12. The prosecution failed to prove that Mr. Lawson intended to commit a crime against persons or property.
 - **ISSUE 4:** A conviction for burglary requires proof that the defendant entered or remained unlawfully in a building with intent to commit a crime against persons or property therein. Here, the state alleged that Mr. Lawson unlawfully entered or remained in a women's public restroom with intent to commit voyeurism, which is not a crime against persons or property. Do Mr. Lawson's burglary convictions violate his Fourteenth Amendment right to due process because the evidence is insufficient to prove the elements beyond a reasonable doubt?
- 13. The prosecution failed to prove that Mr. Lawson assaulted another in the "building" he was accused of unlawfully entering.
- 14. The prosecution failed to prove that Mr. Lawson assaulted another in immediate flight from the "building" he was accused of unlawfully entering.
 - **ISSUE 5:** A conviction for first-degree burglary requires proof that the defendant unlawfully entered or remained in a building with

intent to commit a crime and assaulted another while in the building or in immediate flight therefrom. Here the prosecutor alleged that Mr. Lawson unlawfully entered a women's restroom with intent to commit a crime, that he left the restroom and was discovered elsewhere in a public place, and assaulted a security officer who attempted to detain him. Does Mr. Lawson's first-degree burglary conviction violate his right to due process because the evidence is insufficient to prove the elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt?

- 15. Mr. Lawson's conviction was based in part on propensity evidence, in violation of his Fourteenth Amendment right to due process.
- 16. The trial court erred by denying Mr. Lawson's motion to exclude evidence of prior misconduct.
- 17. The trial court should have excluded prior allegations of misconduct, introduced by the state to show Mr. Lawson's propensity to commit burglary and voyeurism.
- 18. The trial court misinterpreted ER 404(b).
- 19. The trial court failed to properly apply the four step procedure required for admission of prior bad acts evidence under ER 404(b).
- 20. The trial court erred by adopting Finding of Fact No. 8. CP 467.
- 21. The trial court erred by adopting Finding of Fact No. 9. CP 467.
- 22. The trial court erred by adopting Finding of Fact No. 10. CP 467.
- 23. The trial court erred by adopting Finding of Fact No. 11. CP 467.
- 24. The trial court erred by adopting Finding of Fact No. 13. CP 469.
- 25. The trial court erred by adopting Finding of Fact No. 14. CP 469.
- 26. The trial court erred by adopting Finding of Fact No. 15. CP 469.
- 27. The trial court erred by adopting Finding of Fact No. 16. CP 469.
- 28. The trial court erred by adopting Finding of Fact No. 18. CP 470.
- 29. The trial court erred by adopting Finding of Fact No. 19. CP 470.

- 30. The trial court erred by adopting Finding of Fact No. 20. CP 470-471.
- 31. The trial court erred by adopting Finding of Fact No. 21. CP 471.
- 32. The trial court erred by adopting Finding of Fact No. 25. CP 472.
- 33. The trial court erred by adopting Finding of Fact No. 26. CP 472.
- 34. The trial court erred by adopting Finding of Fact No. 27. CP 472.
- 35. The trial court erred by adopting Finding of Fact No. 28. CP 473.
- 36. The trial court erred by adopting Conclusion of Law No 2. CP 473.
- 37. The trial court erred by adopting Conclusion of Law No. 3. CP 473.
- 38. The trial court erred by adopting Finding of Fact No. 8. CP 467.
 - **ISSUE 6:** A criminal conviction may not be based on propensity evidence. In this case, the jury heard evidence that Mr. Lawson had committed prior acts of burglary and voyeurism. Did Mr. Lawson's conviction violate his Fourteenth Amendment right to due process because it was based in part on propensity evidence?
 - **ISSUE 7:** ER 403 and ER 404(b) prohibit introduction of evidence of prior misconduct, except in limited circumstances. Here, the court allowed the prosecution to admit evidence that Mr. Lawson had committed prior acts of burglary and voyeurism. Did the trial court err by admitting evidence of prior misconduct?
- 39. Mr. Lawson was denied his state constitutional right to a unanimous verdict on count four.
- 40. The trial court erred by instructing jurors on alternative means of committing voyeurism.
- 41. The trial court erred by entering a judgment of conviction in count four based on the jury's general verdict, where the evidence was insufficient to support one alternative means of committing voyeurism.
 - **ISSUE 8:** An accused person has a constitutional right to a unanimous verdict, including unanimity as to the means by which the crime was committed. Here, the evidence was insufficient to establish one of the alternative means of committing voyeurism in

count four. Did Mr. Lawson's voyeurism conviction in count four violate his right to a unanimous verdict under Wash. Const. art. I, § 21?

- 42. Mr. Lawson was denied his state constitutional right to a unanimous verdict on counts one, three, and five.
- 43. The trial court erred by instructing jurors on alternative means of committing burglary, as charged in counts one, three, and five.
- 44. The trial court erred by entering a judgment of conviction in counts one, three, and five based on the jury's general verdict, where the evidence was insufficient to support one alternative means of committing burglary.
- 45. The trial court erred by failing to give a unanimity instruction as to count one, where the state presented evidence of multiple acts.
 - **ISSUE 9:** Where the jury is instructed on alternative means of committing an offense, reversal is required unless substantial evidence supports each alternative means. Here, jurors were instructed on two alternative means of committing burglary; however, the evidence supported only one alternative. Did Mr. Lawson's burglary conviction in counts one, three, and five violate his right to a unanimous verdict under Wash. Const. art. I, § 21?
 - **ISSUE 10:** Where the prosecution presents evidence of multiple acts to support a single charge, the state must either elect one act or the court must provide a unanimity instruction as to that charge. Here, the prosecutor introduced evidence that Mr. Lawson entered the hospital building through a loading dock, and that he later entered the women's restroom. Did the trial court's failure to provide a unanimity instruction as to count one violate Mr. Lawson's right to a unanimous verdict under Wash. Const. art. I, § 21?
- 46. The trial court failed to properly determine Mr. Lawson's criminal history and offender score.
- 47. The trial court erred by including a 2008 conviction for voyeurism in Mr. Lawson's criminal history.
- 48. The trial court erred by including a 2003 conviction for "Assault 4 Sexual Motivation" in Mr. Lawson's criminal history.

- 49. The trial court erred by sentencing Mr. Lawson with an offender score of 16.
- 50. The trial court erred by adopting Finding of Fact No. 2.2 (Judgment and Sentence)
- 51. The trial court erred by adopting Finding of Fact No. 2.3 (Judgment and Sentence).
 - **ISSUE 11:** At sentencing, the prosecution must prove criminal history by a preponderance of the evidence. Here, the prosecutor failed to introduce evidence establishing a 2008 conviction for voyeurism or a 2003 conviction for simple assault with sexual motivation. Did the trial court violate Mr. Lawson's Fourteenth Amendment right to due process by sentencing him with an offender score of 16?
- 52. The trial court erred by imposing attorney fees in the amount of \$1135.
- 53. The trial court exceeded its authority by imposing attorney fees, because Mr. Lawson represented himself at trial.
 - **ISSUE 12:** A trial court may only impose costs and fees authorized by statute. Here, the court imposed attorney fees despite the lack of statutory authority for such an order. Did the trial court exceed its statutory authority by requiring Mr. Lawson to pay the cost of counsel, especially given that he represented himself at trial?
- 54. The trial court's imposition of attorney's fees infringed Mr. Lawson's Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment right to counsel.
- 55. The court erred by finding that Mr. Lawson has the present or future ability to pay his legal financial obligations.
 - **ISSUE 13:** A trial court may only impose attorney fees upon finding that the offender has the present or likely future ability to pay. Here, the court imposed attorney fees despite the absence of evidence supporting such a finding. Did the trial court violate Mr. Lawson's Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment right to counsel?
- 56. The trial court erred by ordering Mr. Lawson to pay a \$100 domestic violence assessment.

- 57. The trial court erred by ordering Mr. Lawson to pay a \$100 expert witness fund contribution.
- 58. The trial court erred by assessing a \$100 crime lab fee.

Issue 14: A sentencing court may not impose costs or fees that are not authorized by statute. Here, the court imposed \$100 in fees not authorized by any statute, and \$200 in fees inapplicable to Mr. Lawson's case. Did the sentencing court exceed its statutory authority by erroneously imposing \$300 in fees?

STATEMENT OF FACTS AND PRIOR PROCEEDINGS

Geoffrey Lawson faced seven charges stemming from three incidents where he used the women's public restrooms. CP 1-9.

The first two charges related to his presence in a public women's bathroom at Harrison Hospital. RP (1/4/13) 85. Count one charged burglary in the second degree:

On or about May 17, 2012, in the County of Kitsap, State of Washington, the above-named Defendant, with intent to commit a crime against a person or property therein, entered or remained unlawfully in a building, contrary to the Revised Code of Washington 9A.52.030(1).

CP 1.

Count two charged attempted voyeurism. CP 2-3. The substantive portion of that charge read:

On or about May 17, 2012, in the County of Kitsap, State of Washington, the above-named Defendant, for the purpose of arousing or gratifying the sexual desire of any person, did knowingly view, photograph, or film (a) another person without that person's knowledge and consent while the person was in a place where he or she would have a reasonable expectation of privacy; and/or (b) the intimate areas of another person without that person's knowledge and consent and under circumstances where the person has a reasonable expectation of privacy, whether in a public or private place; contrary to the Revised Code of Washington 9A.44.115(2) and Laws of 2003, Chapter 213. CP 2.

Counts three and four related to Mr. Lawson's presence in the public women's bathroom at a Barnes and Noble store. RP (1/4/13) 86.

Count three charged another burglary. The charge used the same language used to charge count one; only the date was changed. CP 3-4. Count four charged voyeurism. The operative language read the same as for the other voyeurism charge. CP 4-5.

Three counts related to a second incident at the Harrison Hospital. RP (1/4/13) 86. Count five charged burglary in the first degree, and read:

On or about June 19, 2012, in the County of Kitsap, State of Washington, the above-named Defendant, with intent to commit a crime against a person or property therein, did enter or remain unlawfully in a building and in entering or while in the building or in immediate flight therefrom, the Defendant or another participant in the crime was armed with a deadly weapon and/or did assault any person therein, to wit: Charles Leslie Nace, contrary to the Revised Code of Washington 9A.52.020. CP 5.

Count six charged second-degree assault.¹ CP 6. Count seven charged attempted voyeurism. CP 7. The operative language charging these counts read the same as the language charging the other burglary and voyeurism charges, except with regard to the date (and the additional element required to prove first-degree burglary). CP 1-7.

Counts one, three and five (the burglary counts) carried special allegations of sexual motivation and rapid recidivism. CP 2-4. Counts

9

¹ Ms. Lawson was acquitted of assault two. CP 11.

three and five also carried two additional aggravators: victim present during burglary, and invasion of privacy. CP 4.

Mr. Lawson requested a bill of particulars specifying the underlying facts alleged for each charge. CP 319-325; RP (12/21/12) 12; RP (12/28/12) 6-7; RP (1/4/13) 83-84. At a hearing on the motion, the prosecutor indicated that the state would rely on a continuing course of conduct to prove each voyeurism charge. RP (1/4/13) 84. After questioning from the court, the prosecutor clarified that counts one and five involved the Harrison Hospital, and count three involved the Barnes and Noble. RP (1/4/13) 85-86. The court denied Mr. Lawson's motion. RP (1/4/13) 86.

Prior to trial, Mr. Lawson moved to dismiss the burglary charges, arguing that he was in areas open to the public. RP (1/11/13) 8; CP 198-206, 325-427, 460-463. At a hearing on the issue, he urged the court to find the element of unlawful entry or remaining not met. The trial judge responded: "The burglary statute says if you 'unlawfully enter' or 'unlawfully remain.' If you enter a building lawfully and you commit a crime therein, you are unlawfully remaining. So your motion to dismiss on that basis is denied." RP (1/11/13) 10-11.

Mr. Lawson also moved to dismiss the voyeurism charged in count four, arguing insufficient evidence. The court denied this motion as well. RP (11/2/12) 3-7; CP 198-206, 220.

Prior to trial, Mr. Lawson sought the appointment of new counsel. RP (11/14/12) 10. When his request was denied, the court allowed him to represent himself. RP (11/15/12) 74-76. After hearing from the judge, experiencing the difficulties of self-representation, and further contemplating the issue, he requested an attorney be appointed. RP (11/14/12) 46, 53-55; RP (11/15/12) 75, 80-81; RP (12/21/12) 8-9; RP (1/11/13) 11-12; RP (1/14/13) 6. The court denied the request summarily, telling Mr. Lawson that his decision was "irrevocable". RP (1/14/13) 6, 34.

At trial, the state offered ER 404(b) evidence relating to four prior incidents. RP (10/8/12) 2-32. Over defense objection, the court allowed the state to present the evidence. The jury was told about four separate episodes where Mr. Lawson was found in a public women's bathroom. RP (1/14/13) 105-127, 142-144; RP (1/16/13) 162-166, 174-191, 202-213, 217-245, 253-260.

Regarding the Barnes and Noble charges, the state presented testimony from Amy Starkey. She testified that she was in the women's bathroom, went into the bathroom stall, urinated, came out and washed her

hands. RP (1/17/13) 271-275. While in the main area of the bathroom, near the sink, she saw Mr. Lawson. She did not see him any other time. RP (1/17/13) 272, 274. She did not testify that she saw Mr. Lawson while she was in the stall. She did not testify that she saw him use a mirror or any other device to spy on her. Nor did she testify that the stalls permitted a person to peek from one stall into the other. RP (1/17/13) 271-275.

The state also presented evidence regarding the first incident at Harrison Hospital. In a security video, Mr. Lawson is seen entering the hospital through a loading dock door. The door is not marked in any way. RP (1/17/13) 291, 306, 318. Security staff later learned that a man was in the women's bathroom. RP (1/17/13) 289, 344. The state did not present testimony of anyone who had used the restroom while Mr. Lawson was inside.

The state also presented evidence regarding a second incident at Harrison Hospital. In the second incident, Mr. Lawson was arrested by security staff in a hallway outside the bathrooms.² RP (1/17/13) 346-347, 357.

After the prosecution rested, Mr. Lawson moved to dismiss all of the charges. He argued that the evidence was insufficient to prove

² This arrest resulted in the charge of assault in the second degree. The jury acquitted Mr. Lawson of that charge. CP 11.

voyeurism regarding the Barnes and Noble incident. He also argued that restrooms are public places, and thus he did not enter or remain unlawfully. RP (1/23/13) 466-468. The court denied his motions. RP (1/23/13) 468.

At the conclusion of the evidence, Mr. Lawson asked the court to provide a unanimity instruction regarding the burglary charges. He reminded the parties that he'd sought a bill of particulars to determine if the state was proceeding under an unlawful entry theory or one of unlawful remaining. RP (1/24/13) 535; CP 493-503. The prosecutor responded that the state was proceeding under both theories. RP (1/24/13) 536. Then Mr. Lawson asked: "So it's the women's restroom and not the building itself?" RP (1/24/13) 536. The prosecutor responded: "Come on. You've sat through the whole trial." RP (1/24/13) 536. The judge then told the parties that the state's theory focused on the entry into the women's restroom, not the building. The court denied Mr. Lawson's request. RP (1/24/13) 536. The court did not give a unanimity instruction. CP 504-550.

In closing, the prosecutor argued that Mr. Lawson was guilty of unlawful entry and unlawful remaining in each of the burglary charges. RP (1/25/13) 552-570. Regarding count one, the state mentioned Mr.

Lawson's entry through the loading dock door, and also referred jurors to his entry into the women's restroom. RP (1/24/13) 536, 556-560.

The jury convicted Mr. Lawson of the burglary, voyeurism, and attempted voyeurism charges. It acquitted him of assault. RP (1/25/13) 595-599. The court held a separate trial regarding the rapid recidivism aggravator. The jury answered "yes" on a special verdict form. RP (1/25/13) 603-618, 621-625.

Mr. Lawson renewed all of his arguments for dismissal. The court summarily denied his motions. RP (1/25/13) 625-626. He renewed them again at sentencing, with the same result. RP (2/15/13) 2-6; CP 563-648, 651-705, 809-810.

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