NO. 44744-4-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON **DIVISION II**

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

GEOFFREY ROBERT LAWSON,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF KITSAP COUNTY, STATE OF WASHINGTON Superior Court No. 12-1-00713-4

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

RUSSELL D. HAUGE Prosecuting Attorney

FARSHAD M. TALEBI Deputy Prosecuting Attorney

614 Division Street Port Orchard, WA 98366 (360) 337-7174

Jodi R. Backlund, Manek R. Mistry, and Skylar T. Brett Po Box 6490 Olympia, WA 98507-6490

Email: backlundmistry@gmail.com

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

(2009). Evidentiary errors under ER 404 are not of constitutional magnitude. Therefore, the court must determine within reasonable probabilities, if the outcome of the trial would have been different if the error had not occurred. *State v. Robtoy*, 98 Wn.2d 30, 653 P.2d 284 (1982).

1. The Court properly interpreted ER 404(b) under the four-part test in *Lough*.

ER 404(b) provides, evidence of other crimes, wrongs or acts is not admissible to prove the character of a person in order to show action in conformity therewith. It may, however, be admissible for other purposes, such as proof of motive, opportunity, intent, preparation, plan, knowledge, identity, or absence of mistake or accident. The above list is not exclusive. *State v. Lane*, 125 Wn.2d 825, 831, 889 P.2d 929 (1995); *State v. Grant*, 83 Wn.App. 98, 105, 920 P.2d 609 (1996). ER 404(b) does not merely provide for the possible admission of prior "crimes," but also by its clear language deals with the admissibility of other non-criminal "acts" as well.

To admit evidence under ER 404(b), a trial court must follow a four-part test: (1) find by a preponderance of the evidence that the misconduct occurred; (2) identify the purpose for which the proffered evidence is introduced; (3) determine that the evidence is relevant to prove an element of the crime; and (4) find that its probative value outweighs its

prejudicial effect. *State v. Lough*, 125 Wn.2d 847, 853, 889 P.2d 487 (1995).

In this case, the court went through the proper four part test for each of the seven prior acts the State sought to admit during a hearing on the admissibility, which was also memorialized in findings of facts and conclusions of law that was signed off by all parties. RP (10/8/12) 26-32; CP 464-473. In fact, the court found that three prior incidents were not admissible, distinguishing these from the four that were found to be admissible based on the four part test, demonstrating that the court meticulously considered each of the incidents and made a detailed finding that the four admissible incidents occurred by a preponderance, met an exception under ER 404(b), that the evidence was relevant, and that the probative value outweighed the prejudicial nature of the evidence. Thus, the trial court properly interpreted the rule in this case and the question is whether the court abused its discretion.

2. The Court properly admitted the prior misconduct under ER 404(b) for three specific purposes.

The second prong of the test is the court must identify a purpose for which the evidence is admissible, other than to show propensity. *State* v. *Lough*, 125 Wn.2d 847, 853, 889 P.2d 487 (1995). While appellant does not make it clear in their brief, presumably their first exception to the

trial court's decision to admit ER 404(b) evidence is based on the court improperly admitting it for the purpose of showing a lack of accident or mistake, and even if the evidence was admissible for this purpose then the trial court should have conditioned this admissibility. However, the prior incidents were admitted under three exceptions, not just to show a lack of accident or mistake.

In this case, the State sought to admit seven prior incidents of misconduct for the limited purpose of showing a common scheme or plan, motive, and/or a lack of accident or mistake. RP (10/18/12) 26-32; CP 464-473. The Washington Supreme Court noted in *State v. Lough*, 125 Wn.2d 847, 853, 889 P.2d 487 (1995), a leading case in this area, that evidence of prior misconduct to show a common scheme or plan may be admissible in certain cases and upheld the trial court's decision:

The existence of a design or plan may not be proved just by similarity of result, but may be proved circumstantially by evidence that the defendant had performed acts having "such a concurrence of common features that the various acts are naturally to be explained as caused by a general plan of which they are the individual manifestations."

Lough at 856, quoting People v. Ewoldt, 7 Cal.4th 380, 402, 867 P.2d 757 (1994). Additionally, prior acts of misconduct are admissible to rebut a claim of accident or to rebut any material assertion by a party is a well-established exception to ER 404(b). See State v. Gogolin, 45 Wn.App.

640, 727 P.2d 683 (1986); 5 Karl B. Tegland, Washington Prac. Evidence § 114, at 391, § 117, at 411 (3rd Ed.1989). Similarly, courts have routinely held that evidence is admissible to show motive; for example, in *State v. Matthews*, 75 Wn. App. 703, 812 P.2d 119 (1991) evidence of the defendant's financial condition was relevant to show a motive for robbery.

The Defendant did assert that the witnesses had mistaken the purpose for him being in the women's restroom. Proving that the Defendant's purpose or intent in entering the women's restroom was for the purpose of sexual gratification, or in the case of burglaries to commit a crime, is a material issue in this case. The Defendant continually claimed that he was not in these restrooms for that purpose and that his intent was not to commit a crime or sexual gratification. For instance, he asks Ms. Starkey:

Q. Thank you. While you were -- did you notice anything out of the ordinary, while you were using the restroom?

A. No.

Q. Had you seen anything -- seen me looking at you, at any point in time, while you were in the restroom, other than what you've already testified to?

A. No.

RP (1/16/13-1/17/13) 275. Similarly, he asks Mr. Burrows:

Q. So did you observe me doing anything else, other than scared you, when I came out of the restroom?

A. Did I observe you? No. I didn't know you were in there, until you came out.

RP (1/16/13-1/17/13) 337.

The defense in this case essentially relied on the assertion that his intent was not to go in to the women's restroom for this purpose and it was properly admitted to show a lack of accident or mistake.

If the only purpose the prior misconduct was admissible was to rebut a claim of accident or mistake then the court could have followed the procedure cited in *State v. Fisher*, 165 Wn.2d 745, 202 P.3d 937 (2009), however, the evidence was also admissible to show motive and a common scheme or plan. RP (10/18/12) 26-32; CP 464-473. Appellant does not assert that the trial court erred in admitting the evidence for these reasons, and based on the court's findings, it is clear that the court properly admitted the evidence for these purposes as well. Therefore, even if the court improperly admitted the evidence under the exception to show a lack of accident or mistake, it did admit the evidence for two other valid reasons and so the error would be harmless and have had no effect on the outcome of the trial.

3. The Court properly weighed the danger of prejudice versus the probative value on the record and in the findings of fact and conclusions of law.

Once it is determined that the evidence is admissible for one of these purposes, the court must determine whether the danger of undue prejudice from its admission outweighs the probative value of the evidence. ER 404(b). In *State v. Jackson*, 102 Wn.2d 689, 689 P.2d 76

(1984), the court emphasized the importance of making a record of this determination so that there can be an effective appellant review and because the process of weighing the evidence and stating specific reasons for a decision insures a thoughtful consideration of the issue.

In this case, the court admitted four prior incidents, although the State only used evidence of three incidents at trial. After going through each of the seven incidents, the court concluded by enunciating the balancing of the probative value verses the prejudicial effect:

I've stated why the evidence is relevant, and I do believe that with the omission of those acts that I've omitted that -- that the probative value outweighs its prejudicial effect, although any evidence against you obviously is prejudicial. I don't believe that it is the type of evidence which is unfair to the defendant's case, at least with respect to those items that I've ruled admissible.

RP (10/8/12) 32.

Additionally, the trial court went through each incident independently, with very specified reasons for their inclusion or exclusion. For example, "I'm worried about this matter being the subject of a trial within a trial to the prejudice of Mr. Lawson" RP (10/8/12) 31, "it does have a tendency to show it's more probative than prejudicial in having a tendency to show" RP (10/8/12) 30, and "In view of those factors, I think the evidence is more probative than prejudicial on the issues of his intent, the absence of a mistake, and the issue of sexual motivation" RP (10/8/12) 29. Furthermore, the court's analysis and conclusions are memorialized in

the Findings of Facts and Conclusions of Law. CP 464-475.

Clearly, the trial court specifically weighed the prejudice against the probative vale for each prior act of misconduct that was admitted at trial.

4. Even if the evidence was improperly admitted, the error would be harmless.

Evidentiary errors are prejudicial if, within reasonable probabilities, the error materially affected the outcome of the trial. *State v. Robtoy*, 98 Wn.2d 30, 44, 653 P.2d 284 (1982). Even assuming *arguendo* that the court did abuse it's discretion in admitting the ER 404(b) evidence, there is not a reasonable probability that the outcome at trial would have been different.

Of the six counts the defendant was convicted of, the State presented lengthy videos of each of the three incidents, clearly showing the Defendant stalking the restrooms, intentionally entering the women's restroom, and numerous eye witnesses that caught him in the women's restroom in each of the three incidents.

In this case, the evidence is overwhelming and even if the admission of the ER 404(b) evidence was improper, the error was harmless.

G. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DETERMINED LAWSON'S OFFENDER SCORE AND STANDARD RANGE BASED ON CERIFIED COPIES OF HIS PRIOR CONVICTIONS.

Lawson next claims that the State failed to meet its burden of establishing the Defendant's criminal history for purposes of determining the offender score. This claim is without merit because the State filed certified copies of the Defendant's judgment and sentences of his prior convictions that factored into his offender score.

The trial court must conduct a sentencing hearing before imposing a sentence on a convicted defendant. RCW 9.94A.500(1). A defendant's offender score affects the sentencing range and is generally calculated by adding together the defendant's current offenses and the prior convictions. RCW 9.94A.589(1)(a). In determining the proper offender score, the court "may rely on no more information than is admitted by the plea agreement, or admitted, acknowledged, or proved in a trial or at the time of sentencing." RCW 9.94A.530(2). The purpose of this limitation is "to protect against the possibility that a defendant's due process rights will be infringed upon by the sentencing judge's reliance on false information." State v. Herzog, 112 Wn.2d 419, 431–32, 771 P.2d 739 (1989); Wash. Const. art. I, § 3

The State has the burden to prove prior convictions at sentencing by a preponderance of the evidence. *State v. Ford*, 137 Wn.2d 472, 479–80, 973 P.2d 452 (1999). While the preponderance of the evidence standard is "not overly difficult to meet," the State must at least introduce "evidence of some kind to support the alleged criminal history." *Ford*, 137 Wn.2d at 480, 973 P.2d 452. "The best evidence of a prior conviction is a certified copy of the judgment." *Id.* at 480, 973 P.2d 452.

The Defendant only had two prior convictions that affected the calculation of his offender score: the February 27, 2012 Voyeurism conviction in Kitsap Superior Court and the November 13, 2009 Voyeurism conviction in King County Superior Court. CP 720-741. As part of the State's sentencing memorandum and proposed judgment and sentence, filed on March 11, 2012, attached as Exhibit 1, is a certified copy of the judgment and sentence from King County Superior Court Voyeurism conviction. CP 746-756. Additionally, Exhibit 2 is the judgment and sentence from the Kitsap County Voyeurism conviction. CP 758-767.

The State provided the "best evidence" of the prior convictions which were factored into the calculation of the Defendant's offender score and thus, the Defendant's criminal history was clearly established.

H. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY ASSESSED LEGAL FINANCIAL OBLIGATIONS WHEN, (1) THE COURT'S ACTIONS WERE CONSISTENT WITH WASHINGTON CASE LAW, AND (2) LAWSON FAILED TO OBJECT BELOW AND THUS FAILED TO PRESERVE THE ISSUE FOR APPEAL.

Lawson claims the trial court should not have imposed legal financial obligations (LFO) in this case. This claim is without merit because there is no authority to support the appellant's claim that the court must inquire into his present or future ability to pay at the time; additionally, the issue of LFOs is not ripe; and finally, the Defendant is precluded raise the issue of LFOs for the first time on appeal.

As the Appellant correctly acknowledges, Washington courts have previously rejected the arguments he raises in the present case – that the court must inquire into the Defendant's present or future ability to pay at the time of sentencing. *See* App.'s Br. at 41, *citing e.g., State v. Blank*, 131 Wn.2d. 230, 239, 930 P.2d 1213 (1997). Washington courts have held that it is not constitutionally necessary for the trial court to inquire into the defendant's ability to pay, his or her financial resources, and whether there is no likelihood that the defendant's indigency will end prior to including repayment obligation in the judgment and sentence. *State v. Blank*, 131 Wn.2d. 230, 239, 930 P.2d 1213 (1997). The Appellant thus essentially is asking this court to ignore numerous Washington cases on

this issue. This Court should decline the issue.

Additionally, challenges to orders establishing legal financial sentencing conditions that do not limit a defendant's liberty are not ripe for review until the State attempts to curtail a defendant's liberty by enforcing them. Compare State v. Ziegenfuss, 118 Wn.App. 110, 112, 74 P.3d 1205 (2003) ("Because [the defendant] has not yet failed to pay her legal financial obligations ... her argument is not yet ripe for review."), review denied, 151 Wn.2d 1016, 88 P.3d 965 (2004), and Baldwin, 63 Wn.App. at 310, 818 P.2d 1116 ("[T]he meaningful time to examine the defendant's ability to pay is when the government seeks to collect the obligation."). with Bertrand, 165 Wn.App. at 404-05, 267 P.3d 511 (reviewing the merits of the trial court's sentencing conditions because a disabled defendant was ordered to commence payment of legal financial obligations within 60 days of entry of judgment and sentence while still incarcerated). There is nothing in the record reflecting the State's attempts in this case and thus, any challenge to the order requiring payment of legal financial obligations in this case is not yet ripe for review.

Furthermore, the Defendant did not object to the imposition of the legal financial obligations below. *See* RP (3/15/13) 49-52. This Court has recently held that a reviewing court need not address (or allow a defendant

to raise) a claim regarding his ability to pay his legal financial obligations for the first time on appeal. *State v. Blazina*, 174 Wn.App. 906, 301 P.3d 492 (2013), citing RAP 2.5.

Despite the Defendant's inability to contest these issues, in regards to the requirement for the Defendant to pay court-appointed attorney's fees, the Defendant did in fact have counsel representing him for a significant period of time. The Defendant was represented from the date of the initial charging in June of 2012 until November 14, 2012 when he elected to go *pro se*. RP (11/14/12) 46. His court-appointed attorney filed a motion to dismiss, a response to the State's ER 404(b) motion and a motion for severance. CP 198-206, 187-197, 226-229. He was also appointed with a court-appointed investigator from the date he went *pro se* until sentencing. Therefore, the court-appointed attorney fees were properly imposed.

Finally, in regards to the discretionary fees imposed, the Appellant incorrectly states that the court imposed a domestic violence and crime lab fee. The judgment and sentence does not impose those fees. CP 16.

Therefore, the court should decline the issue of addressing legal financial obligations imposed because the Defendant did not object at the time, the issue is not ripe, and the case does not support the Appellant's claim.

IV. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Lawson's conviction and sentence should be affirmed.